6959,7-3

4

6957.7-3

Case No. 69827-3

## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

HUGH K. SISLEY and MARTHA E. SISLEY, both individually and on behalf of their marital community,

Appellants/Cross-Respondents,

v.

II.	ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR		
III.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE		
	A.	Introduction	
	B.	Procedural History	
	C.	Factual Summary 10	
III.	ARGUMENT		
	A.	The trial court erred by resolving material factual conflicts in the City's favor on summary judgment and dismissing Mr. and Mrs. Sisley's constitutional and tort claims, especially when the City subsequently testified as to disparate treatment of Mr. and Mrs. Sisley	
	B.	The trial court erred by finding the Certificates of Release issued by the City did not release accrued civil penalties	
IV.	CON	CLUSION	

٠

.

# **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

C	
C	ases

1

Armendariz v. Penman, 75 F.3d 1311 (9th Cir. 1996)
Bakamus v. Albert, 1 Wn.2d 241, 95 P.2d 767 (1939) 42
Beaupre v. Pierce County, 161 Wn.2d 568, 571, 166 P.3d 712 (2007).
<i>Blide v. Rainier Mountaineering</i> , Inc., 30 Wn. App. 571, 636 P.2d 492 (1981)
Calbom v. Knudtzon, 65 Wn. 2d 157, 162, 396 P.2d 148, 151 (1964)
Camara v. Municipal Court, 387 U.S. 523, 534, 87 S.Ct. 1727, 18 L.Ed.2d 930 (1967)
Chadwick v. Nw. Airlines, Inc., 33 Wn. App. 297, 302, 654 P.2d 1215, 1217 (1982) aff'd, 100 Wash. 2d 221, 667 P.2d 1104 (1983) 42
City of Cleburne, Tex. v. Cleburne Living Ctr. Inc., 473 U.S. 432, 439, 105 S.Ct. 3249, 87 L.Ed.2d 313 (1985)
City of Pasco v. Shaw, 161 Wn.2d 450, 464, 166 P.3d 1157 (2007). 29
City of Seattle v. McCready, 124 Wn.2d 300, 304, 877 P.2d 686 (1994)
Coolidge v. New Hampshire, 403 U.S. 443, 91 S.Ct. 2022, 29 L.Ed.2d 564 (1971)

Corbray v. Stevenson, 98 Wn. 2d 410, 656 P.2d 473 (1982) 41
Crown Point Dev., Inc. v. City of Sun Valley, 506 F.3d 851 (9th Cir.2007)
DePhillips v. Zolt Constr. Co., 136 Wn.2d 26, 959 P.2d 1104 (1998)
Felton v. Menan Starch Co., 66 Wn.2d 792, 797, 405 P.2d 585 (1965)
Gerhart v. Lake County, 637 F.3d 1013 (9th Cir. 2011) cert. denied, 132 S. Ct. 249, 181 L. Ed. 2d 143 (U.S. 2011)
Knox v. Microsoft Corp., 92 Wn.App. 204, 962 P.2d 839 (1998) 19
Mayer v. Pierce County Med. Bureau, Inc., 80 Wn.App. 416, 420, 909 P.2d 1323 (1995)
Meder v. CCME Corp., 7 Wn. App. 801, 807, 502 P.2d 1252 (1972)33
Moore v. Wayman, 85 Wn. App. 710, 934 P.2d 707 (1997)
Moore v. Wayman, 85 Wn.App. 710, 718, 934 P.2d 707, review denied, 133 Wn.2d 1019, 948 P.2d 387 (1997)
New York v. Burger, 482 U.S. 691, 699-700, 107 S.Ct. 2636, 96 L.Ed.2d 601 (1987)
Okeson v. City of Seattle, 150 Wn.2d 540, 550, 78 P.3d 1279 (2003)38

•

N

Postema v. Pollution Control Hearings Bd., 142 Wn.2d 68, 121-123, 11 P.3d 726 (2000)
Roberts v. Bechtel, 74 Wn.App. 685, 875 P.2d 14 (1994) 42, 43
Robinson v. City of Seattle, 119 Wn.2d 34, 47, 830 P.2d 318 (1992)
Rogers v. City of Toppenish, 23 Wn. App. 554, 596 P.2d 1096 (1979)
Russell v. City of Grandview, 39 Wn.2d 551, 236 P.2d 1061 (1951) 38
Schoeman v. New York Life Ins. Co., 106 Wn.2d 855, 726 P.2d 1 (1986)
Seattle v. See, 67 Wn.2d 475, 408 P.2d 262 (1965)
See v. City of Seattle, 387 U.S. 541, 87 S.Ct. 1737, 18 L.Ed.2d 943 (1967)
Seymour v. State, 152 Wn.App. 156, 165, 216 P.3d 1039 (2009) 28
Squaw Valley Development Co. v. Goldberg, 375 F.3d 936 (9th Cir. 2004)
State v. Gunwall, 106 Wash.2d 54, 720 P.2d 808
State v. Houser, 95 Wn. 2d 143, 149, 622 P.2d 1218, 1222 (1980) 28
State v. McKinney, 148 Wn.2d 20, 29, 60 P.3d 46 (2002) 29
State v. Myrick, 102 Wn.2d 506, 510, 688 P.2d 151 (1984)

1

.

State v. WWJ Corp., 138 Wn. 2d 595 (1999) 31
Sundberg v. Evans, 78 Wn.App. 616, 897 P.2d 1285 (1995) 39, 40
Taggart v. State, 118 Wn.2d 195, 217, 822 P.2d 243 (1992) 39
<i>Taylor v. Stevens County</i> , 111 Wn.2d 159, 166, 759 P.2d 447 (1988)
Tellevik v. 6717 100th Street S.W., 83 Wn.App. 366 (1996) 31
Tran v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 136 Wn.2d 214, 961 P.2d 358 (1998)
<i>Turner v. Hallberg</i> , 04-276-KI, 2005 WL 2104999 (D. Or. Aug. 30, 2005)
U.S. v. \$100,348.00 in U.S. Currency, 354 F. 3d 1110 (9th Cir. 2004)
U.S. v. Bajakajian, 524 U.S. 321 (1998)
Village of Willowbrook v. Olech, 528 U.S. 562, 120 S. Ct. 1073, 145 L. Ed. 2d 1060 (2000)
Washington Public Employees Ass'n v. State, 127 Wn.App. 254, 264, 110 P.3d 1154 (2005)
<i>York v. Wahkiakum Sch. Dist. No. 200</i> , 163 Wn. 2d 297, 306, 178 P.3d 995, 1001 (2008)

•

•

## Statutes

`

.

28 U.S.C. §§1441, 1446
42 U.S.C. § 1983
528 U.S. at 564
RCW 64.40.020
Other Authorities
29 Williston on Contracts § 73:4 (4th ed.)
Rules
16 Wash. Prac., Tort Law And Practice § 10.1 (3d ed.) 41
66 Am. Jur. 2d Release § 29
Constitutional Provisions
Article I, §14
Wn. Constitution, Article I, Section 2

#### I. INTRODUCTION

This appeal examines the Respondent City of Seattle's deliberate disregard for Appellants Hugh and Martha Sisley's constitutional rights and the City's failure to follow its own protocol.

After years of dealing with the City's mistreatment, Mr. and Mrs. Sisley sued the City of Seattle. In particular, Mr. and Mrs. Sisley sued the City for breaching its agreement (as set forth in the Seattle Municipal Code) to bill the tenants of Mr. and Mrs. Sisley's rental properties rather than Mr. and Mrs. Sisley personally once it received notice regarding tenant occupancy. Mr. and Mrs. Sisley also sued the City because the City willfully failed to issue a "Certificate of Compliance" relating to two specific rental properties once Mr. and Mrs. Sisley corrected the violations listed in the City's initial "Notice of Violation" by completing repairs and/or closing the properties.

Unfortunately at trial, as a result of an adverse summary judgment ruling by the trial court, the jury was not presented with the additional evidence regarding Mr. and Mrs. Sisley's other constitutional and tort claims against the City nor evidence the "Certificate of Release" finally issued by the City as to one of the two rental properties discharged and extinguished all prior fines related to the corrections mandated by the City's initial "Notice of Violation."

This evidence should have been presented to the jury – Mr. and

Mrs. Sisley were entitled to show the jury that they were standing for their principles, for what they believed to be right, and refusing to be pushed around by the City. As it happened, the jury only received a snapshot of the overzealous inspections and mismanagement of their municipal service accounts by the City. On appeal this injustice should be corrected and, following *de novo* review, these claims should be reinstated for a full and impartial hearing by the trier of fact.

## II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Did the trial court err by resolving material factual conflicts in the City's favor on summary judgment and dismissing Mr. and Mrs. Sisley's constitutional and tort claims, especially when the City subsequently testified as to disparate treatment of Mr. and Mrs. Sisley?

2. Did the trial court err by finding the Certificates of Release issued by the City did not release accrued civil penalties?

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## A. Introduction

This appeal involves litigation initiated by Appellants Hugh and Martha Sisley, which asserted that Respondent City of Seattle had violated their constitutional rights and engaged in tortious conduct.<sup>1</sup> These assertions, in turn, were based on the City's improper and unlawful conduct in its dealings with Hugh and Martha Sisley.<sup>2</sup>

Mr. and Mrs. Sisley own multiple properties, including residential units, in the Roosevelt neighborhood of Seattle, many of them available for rent. Over the years, hundreds of people who otherwise could not afford to live in Seattle or in single family residences have lived in these homes. Not surprisingly, given the number of properties and residents, maintenance of the properties and strict compliance with the Housing and Building Sections of the Seattle Municipal Code (SMC) has presented a number of challenges over the years.

The gravamen of the claims against the City, however, is the City's conduct and the retaliatory actions the City has taken against Mr. and Mrs. Sisley. As outlined more fully in this Brief, for years the City has engaged in an escalating campaign of field investigations; a pattern of transferring, assessing, and imposing charges, penalties, and fees for City utility services consumed by others; and instigating

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Respondent City of Seattle recently moved to dismiss its Cross Appeal. As a consequence, there is no need to address the claims asserted there.

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  The evidentiary basis for the factual statements set forth in this Response is contained in the Declaration of Jeffrey Grant (Grant Decl.), and the accompanying 146 exhibits (CP 562-1177), and the Declaration of Hugh Sisley (CP 556-561).

litigation. Mr. and Mrs. Sisley have been subjected to a barrage of unwarranted transfer charges, notices that electrical power to their personal property would be terminated, and dunning letters and other forms of harassment from the City's outsourced, third-party debt collectors.

As earlier noted, some of the City's investigations have discovered violations of its Housing Code, a fact which is not particularly surprising given that the City has initiated hundreds of housing code enforcements or investigations concerning alleged violations of the Housing Code. It appears, however, that only one in every four investigations has uncovered a violation. The remaining cases, nearly three out of every four—in literally hundreds of its investigations, no violation was found to exist.

The two specific rental properties at issue in this case are 6515 16th Ave. N.E. and 6317 15th Ave. N.E., which were determined to have conditions in violation of the City's Housing Code. Mr. and Mrs. Sisley corrected the violations as mandated by the City's initial "Notice of Violation" by completing repairs and/or closing the properties. Nonetheless, the corrections proceeded to litigation, resulting in two judgments. The following is a brief history of the underlying judgments.

6317 15th Ave. N.E., Seattle, WA. On June 27, 2008, the City

issued a "Notice of Violation" regarding certain alleged violations of its Housing Code for the residential property located at 6317 15th Ave. N.E., Seattle, WA. Mr. and Mrs. Sisley timely responded by remedying the complaints and informed the City of their corrective actions by way of two sworn declarations confirming that the required repairs had been made.

On April 1, 2009, the City filed its Complaint for Civil Penalty. The non-jury trial occurred in August and September 2009. Judgment was entered in favor of the City on September 17, 2009, awarding \$368,000 in civil penalties, continuing penalties of \$1,000 per day, \$246 in costs, and interest at 12% per annum.

At trial in this case, on the question of whether the City failed to issue the necessary "Certificate of Compliance" after Mr. and Mrs. Sisley completed all of the requirements of the initial "Notice of Violation," the jury concluded the City was not at fault for willfully failing to issue Certificates of Compliance once Mr. and Mrs. Sisley completed repairs on two specific rental properties as mandated by the City's initial "Notice of Violation."

However, the jury was not presented with the additional evidence regarding the "Certificate of Release" finally issued by the City as the property, which should have discharged and extinguished all prior fines related to the violations. This "Certificate of Release" was issued on August 3, 2012 (roughly three months prior to trial) and specified that:

The above described property [6317 15th Ave. N.E., Seattle, WA] is released from all requirements of the NOTICE OF VIOLATION of the Seattle Municipal Code 22.206 dated JUNE 27, 2008 for the following reasons:

#### HOUSE WAS DEMOLISHED FOR REDEVELOPMENT.

As indicated in the "Certificate of Release," the structure on this property had been demolished earlier, as part of the greater development associated with the light rail construction in the area

**6515 16th Ave. N.E., Seattle, WA.** On March 31, 2008, the City issued a Notice of Violation regarding certain alleged violations of its Housing Code for the residential property located at 6515 16th Ave. N.E., Seattle, WA. Here again, Mr. and Mrs. Sisley timely responded by remedying the complaints and also closing the upper unit of the building, which had received the bulk of the complaints. Mr. and Mrs. Sisley informed the City of their corrective actions by written letter dated April 18, 2008, which included invoices from third-party vendors for the services rendered to correct the violations.

On October 16, 2008, the City filed its Complaint for Civil Penalty. The non-jury trial occurred in June and August 2009. Judgment was entered in favor of the City on September 3, 2009, awarding \$247,400 in civil penalties, continuing penalties of \$600 per day, costs of \$577.50, and interest at 12% per annum.

At trial in this case, the jury concluded the City was not at fault for willfully failing to issue Certificates of Compliance. But here again, the jury was not provided with the whole picture because the trial court erroneously granted summary judgment in the City's favor and dismissed Mr. and Mrs. Sisley's constitutional and tort claims.

Notwithstanding the City's efforts during this case to re-litigate past Housing Code violations related to the underlying judgments, this lawsuit represented Mr. and Mrs. Sisleys' effort to stop the City's campaign of harassment and to seek compensation for the damages they have suffered, in the form of legal expenses, serious aggravation, and frustrating attempts to deprive Mr. and Mrs. Sisley of important aspects of their constitutional freedoms.

As set forth in the Factual Summary below, the City improperly, repeatedly, and unlawfully (a) charged for City Light power Mr. and Mrs. Sisley did not use, (b) charged fees for monitoring buildings that stand empty, (c) imposed fines which are unconstitutionally excessive, (d) charged for "tenant relocation" costs that did not apply, and (e) charged for water services they did not request. The City's campaign has included spam-like billing practices, official warning notices, referrals to outsourced, third-party debt collectors, and threats to immediately terminate Mr. and Mrs. Sisley's access to City services. Moreover, the City frequently denied or ignored Mr. and Mrs. Sisley's requests for information, documents, or answers. In many instances, the City acknowledged its errors, but only after significant delay and prodding. And, even when the City acknowledged its errors, it has been loath to provide accurate, written confirmation of its decisions.

## **B.** Procedural History

Mr. and Mrs. Sisley filed their action in King County Superior Court on May 7, 2010.<sup>3</sup> Thereafter, the City removed the action to United States District Court, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§1441, 1446. After their federal law claims were voluntarily dismissed, the action was remanded back to King County Superior Court. Mr. and Mrs. Sisley filed their Amended Complaint on June 6, 2011, which was amended again on October 12, 2012, following the City's Motion for Summary Judgment.<sup>4</sup>

By way of written order dated September 18, 2012, the trial court granted, in part, the City's Motion for Summary Judgment.<sup>5</sup> Among other rulings, the trial court (1) dismissed Mr. and Mrs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> CP 105-111

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> CP 1489-1484

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> CP 1419-1422

Sisleys' state constitution based claims, (2) found that the public duty doctrine barred their claims relating to the City's housing and zoning enforcement actions, (3) dismissed their claim for tortious interference, (4) dismissed their claims based on excessive fines as precluded by the doctrine *res judicata*. The trial court's written order allowed Mr. and Mrs. Sisleys' claims for breach of contract and breach of the duty of good faith and fair dealing under the City's contract to provide power to proceed to trial.<sup>6</sup>

In the same written order dated September 18, 2012, the trial court denied Mr. and Mrs. Sisleys' Motion Seeking Enforcement of Defendant's Procedures for Confirming Compliance with Defendant's Housing Code, which related, in part, to whether a "Certificate of Release" is actually a release of the responsible party from all claims relevant to the initial "Notice of Violation". <sup>7</sup> The trial court found there were no genuine issues of material fact that the "Certificate of Release" issued by the City for 6317 15th Ave. NE did not release accrued civil penalties relating to the "Notice of Violation." <sup>8</sup> Therefore, the trial court concluded that the City did not release certain accrued civil penalties.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> CP 1419-1422

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> CP 1419-1422

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Id.

By way of written order, the trial court denied the City's Second Motion for Summary Judgment.<sup>9</sup>

The jury trial began on November 5, 2012, and concluded on November 9, 2012. The jury found the City did not breach its agreement with Mr. and Mrs. Sisley and the City was not at fault for failing to issue the Certificates of Compliance after the repairs had been completed.<sup>10</sup>

On January 8, 2012, the trial court denied Mr. and Mrs. Sisleys' Motion for New Trial.<sup>11</sup>

On January 2, 2012, Mr. and Mrs. Sisley sought review from this Court.

# C. Factual Summary

## Seattle City Light Charges Have Been Improperly Transferred

It appears that Seattle City Light (SCL) has the authority to transfer unpaid charges for its services used by a resident of

<sup>11</sup> CP 2200.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> CP 1626-1627.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> CP 2153-2158.

residential property to the personal account of the property owner.<sup>12</sup> The property owner, however, may be protected from this practice if the property owner notifies SCL that the resident is responsible.

Mr. and Mrs. Sisley have consistently complied with this procedure. Nevertheless, the City has repeatedly transferred charges incurred on properties they own—even though the required notices were properly and timely provided.

Beginning in at least early 2005, Mr. and Mrs. Sisley have been under the siege of SCL's campaign to transfer charges for homes they own, but do not live in, to their personal account. For example, in February 2005, SCL transferred unpaid invoices for charges at seven separate properties, claiming that Mr. and Mrs. Sisley owed \$15,486.43, an administrative action to which they promptly and properly objected. It appears that SCL has conceded that these transfers were done in error, although confirmation of this fact does not appear to exist.

In March 2009, SCL transferred \$8,001.49 in charges for different properties Mr. and Mrs. Sisley owned to their individual

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> The factual basis for the discussion in this section is set forth in Grant Decl. Exhibits 1-65 (CP 577-766), the deposition testimony of Donna Morse (Grant Decl., Ex. 143) (CP 1095-1135), and the Declaration of Hugh Sisley (CP 556-561). The discussion involves properties located at 1321 NE 66th Street, 6511 16th Avenue NE, 6515 16th Avenue NE, 6321 15th Avenue NE, 1318 NE 65th Street, 6515 15 Avenue NE, 1408 NE 65th Street, and 6534 15th Avenue NE.

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