698273

No. 69827-3-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

HUGH K. SISLEY and MARTHA E. SISLEY both individually and on behalf of their marital community,

Appellants/Cross-Respondents,

VS.

CITY OF SEATTLE, a municipal corporation,

Respondent/Cross-Appellant.



CITY OF SEATTLE'S RESPONSE BRIEF

PETER S. HOLMES Seattle City Attorney

PATRICK DOWNS, WSBA #25276 GREG NARVER, WSBA #18127 Assistant City Attorneys Attorneys for Respondent/Cross-Appellant City of Seattle

Seattle City Attorney's Office 600 – 4th Avenue, 4th Floor P.O. Box 94769 Seattle, Washington 98124-4769 (206) 684-8200

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

⁹⁴ Taylor v. Stevens Cy., 111 Wn.2d 159, 163, 759 P.2d 447 (1998).

⁹⁵ Id. (citations omitted).

⁹⁶ Taylor, 111 Wn.2d at 164 (emphasis in original; citation omitted).

⁹⁷ Taylor, 111 Wn.2d at 166.

enforcement, *Mercer Island v. Steinmann* held that enforcing municipal codes is a governmental function subject to the public duty doctrine. ⁹⁸

Like the State Building Code in *Taylor*, and the zoning code in *Mercer Island*, the City's Housing and Building Maintenance Code exists and is enforced for the benefit of the public:

The express purpose of this Code is to provide for and promote the health, safety, and welfare of the general public, and not to protect individuals or create or otherwise establish or designate any particular class or group of persons who will or should be especially protected or benefited by the terms of this Code. ⁹⁹

And like the building code in *Taylor* and the zoning code in *Mercer Island*, the duty under the City's housing code is owed to the public and not the Sisleys. The public duty doctrine applies to the City's housing code.

There are four exceptions to the public duty doctrine: (1) where the legislature enacts legislation for the protections of persons of the plaintiff's class; (2) where the governmental body fails to enforce statutes or regulations; (3) where a special relationship exists between the plaintiff and the governmental body; and (4) where the governmental body undertakes to rescue the plaintiff. ¹⁰⁰

The Sisleys do not fall under any exception, including the "special relationship" exception. That exception only applies when explicit assurances are given and the plaintiff relies on the assurances:

⁹⁸ City of Mercer Island v. Steinmann, 9 Wn.App., 479, 482, 513 P.2d 80 (1973).

⁹⁹ SMC 22.200.020.G (emphasis supplied).

¹⁰⁰ Honcoop v. State, 111 Wn.2d 182, 188-91, 759 P.2d 1188 (1988).

A relationship exists between the governmental agent and any reasonably foreseeable plaintiff, setting the injured plaintiff off from the general public and the plaintiff relies on explicit assurances given by the agent or assurances inherent in a duty vested in a governmental entity. ¹⁰¹

Although the Sisleys claim "the City made numerous promises to Mr. and Mrs. Sisley over the years" and the Sisleys "presented declarations in opposition to summary judgment that should have been considered," ¹⁰² Mr. Sisley's declaration supporting the Sisleys' summary judgment response is silent on what promises the City made to them. ¹⁰³ There is no evidence of a special relationship between the Sisleys and the City, much less an "explicit assurance."

The trial court appropriately determined that the Sisleys' codeenforcement-tort claims resting on the City issuing tenant relocation assistance orders and vacant building monitoring fees are barred under the public duty doctrine.

//

11

11

11

Baily v. Town of Forks, 108 Wn.2d 262, 268, 737 P.2d 1257 (1987) (emphasis supplied).

¹⁰² Amended Opening Brief at 40-41.

¹⁰³ CP 556-561.

 Besides being subject to the public duty doctrine, the City appropriately assessed vacant building monitoring fees it ultimately waived.

City code places a duty on landlords to "secure any building that becomes vacant against unauthorized entry." The inspection fees are established to reimburse the City for inspecting the building to determine if the building is secure against entry are not a penalty. When the Director determines a structure is open to entry, the structure shall be inspected quarterly to determine if the structure remains closed. Under the code, the Director may issue a notice of violation if the house is open to entry — the code does not state that a notice of violation or Director's Order shall be issued.

As explained in the statement-of-the-case section, the City sought vacant building monitoring fees after the City determined two Sisley houses were vacant and open to entry: 6418 Brooklyn Ave. N.E. ("the Brooklyn house") and 1322 N.E. 65th St. ("the 1322 house"). In both instances, the City notified the Sisleys vacant building monitoring fees were owed.

Contrary to the Sisleys' allegation that the City unlawfully assessed vacant building monitoring fees against them, ¹⁰⁹ the City appropriately assessed

¹⁰⁴ SMC 22.206.160.A.2.

¹⁰⁵ SMC 22.900F.010.

¹⁰⁶ SMC 22.206.200.F.1.

¹⁰⁷ SMC 22.206.200.F.

¹⁰⁸ SMC 22.206.200.F.

¹⁰⁹ CP 113, Amended Complaint at 2:20-24

the monitoring fees when the code states the Sisleys have a duty to keep their vacant houses closed to entry. 110

Further, the Sisleys cannot claim the City improperly sought monitoring fees for the Brooklyn house when they previously dismissed their improper monitoring fees damages claim. Their improper monitoring fees claim was dismissed when the Sisleys stipulated to "a final resolution of the unfit building case" that included their vacant building monitoring fees damages counterclaim. As to the 65th Street house, the City issued a Director's Order requiring the house be closed to entry but waived those fees as well.

In summary, the City appropriately sought vacant building monitoring fees, but waived the fees after the houses were demolished.

2. Besides being subject to the public duty doctrine, the tenant-relocation-assistance orders had no effect until a court determines a violation existed.

City code allows the City to determine rental housing is unfit when it violates standards including the lack of water or heat, ¹¹² order the unit vacated, and require the landlord reimburse the City for relocation assistance paid to the tenant. ¹¹³ As explained in the statement-of-the-case section, the City issued

¹¹⁰ SMC 22,206,160,A.2.

¹¹¹ CP 254-257.

SMC 22.206.160.A.7 (Shall maintain building in compliance with minimum housing standards that include, in part, providing water under SMC 22.206.050.F, heat under SMC 22.206.090, and an electrical system meeting the Seattle Electrical Code under SMC 22.206.110).

¹¹³ SMC 22.206.260.

tenant-relocation-assistance orders to the Sisleys when power or water was disconnected for lack of payment, or when there were serious housing violations.

The tenant-relocation-assistance-orders, like a NOV has no legal effect until a violation has been found to exist. In *Scott v. Seattle*, the Western District of Washington court held the City's NOV did not establish a due process claim until a court determined a violation occurred. 114

And in *City v. Sisley*, a King County Superior Court order upheld a City's tenant relocation assistance action. On appeal, this Court cited *Scott* and *Cranwell* as a basis to reject the Sisleys' claim they were entitled to due process when the relocation assistance Director's Order was first issued.

Although the Sisleys claim the City unlawfully assessed the tenant relocation assistance, ¹¹⁷ the orders requiring the Sisleys pay relocation assistance, like the notice of violation in *Scott* and tenant relocation assistance in *City v. Sisley* had no legal effect on the Sisleys until a court determined a violation existed.

117 Amended Opening Brief at 17.

¹¹⁴ Scott v. Seattle, 99 F.Supp.2d 1263, 1268 (1999) (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added), citing Cranwell v. Mesec, 77 Wn.App. 90, 890 P.2d 491 (1995).

¹¹⁵ CP 428-434, Declaration of Patrick Downs, Exhibit 34, Judgment Civil Case No. 10-084; RALJ Order King County Cause No. 11-2-15774-1 SEA.

OP 435-440, Declaration of Patrick Downs, Exhibit 34, Sisley v. Seattle, Court of Appeals No. 67870-1-1 Order Denying Discretionary Review.

- D. The Sisleys' negligence-based-tort claims were appropriately dismissed on summary judgment, and the jury decided the City Light claim against them.
 - 1. The City does not owe the Sisleys a duty when enforcing its housing code.

The Sisleys argue the City is liable for negligence by breaching their "duty to exercise reasonable care in the course of enforcing the Housing Code." They assert the City breached these duties through "negligence in performing these tasks."

As presented above, *Taylor v. Stevens*, ¹²⁰ and *Mercer Island v. Steinmann*, ¹²¹ hold that enforcing municipal codes is a governmental function subject to the public duty doctrine. The doctrine also applies to the City's enforcement of its housing code.

The Sisleys rely on *Sundberg v. Evans* to argue dismissal on summary judgment of their special relationship exception to the public duty doctrine was inappropriate. ¹²² *Sundberg* involved a property buyer who asked specific questions about zoning standards that applied to the property. ¹²³ At issue was what the secretary said and whether it was reasonable for Sundberg to rely on

¹¹⁸ Amended Opening Brief at 37.

¹¹⁹ Id. at 33.

¹²⁰ Taylor, 111 Wn.2d at 164.

¹²¹ City of Mercer Island v. Steinmann, 9 Wn.App. 479, 482, 513 P.2d 80 (1973).

¹²² Amended Opening Brief at 40.

¹²³ Sundberg v. Evans, 78 Wn. App. 616, 624, 897 P.2d 1285 (1995).

the answers.¹²⁴ Due to disagreement over what the secretary said, the court remanded the special-relationship issue for trial.¹²⁵

Here, the Sisleys did not show a material fact in dispute. In their amended opening brief they stated "Mr. and Mrs. Sisley presented declarations in opposition to summary judgment that should have been considered . . . and created a factual issue." But Mr. Sisley's declaration supporting the Sisleys' summary judgment response is silent on what promises the City made. 127 Unlike *Sundberg* where a specific question and answers were given over the property is at issue, the Sisleys rely on unsupported "numerous promises" made by the City. 128 They do not allege "direct contact" with a specific official nor do they allege "express assurances" that would cause them to reasonably rely on the statements made.

2. City Light and Seattle Public Utilities do not have a generalized duty of care. And the Sisley's City Light claim was decided against them.

The Sisleys argue the City breached a generalized duty of reasonable care in "operating electrical utility and water services." The argument fails when: (1) the Sisleys are barred from raising a tort claim after trying the

¹²⁴ Id.

¹²⁵ *Id.* at 625.

¹²⁶ Amended Opening Brief at 41.

¹²⁷ CP 556-561.

¹²⁸ Id.

¹²⁹ Amended Opening Brief at 37.

power-bill-transfer issue on a contract claim; (2) the Sisleys did not appeal the trial court's determination that their City Light claim is governed by contract and not tort; (3) and the issue must be resolved under contract and not tort.

The Sisleys are barred from raising this issue on appeal when they tried the power bill transfers under contract and did not appeal the jury verdict. The Sisleys first brought this issue as their second cause of action in their initial complaint, "Seattle's conduct was unlawful, unreasonable, and tortious." On summary judgment the trial court ruled "[t]he supply of power by City Light to the plaintiffs' properties is governed by contract." The trial court then allowed the Sisleys to amend their complaint a second time to allege a contract claim, which they did." 132

The Sisleys relinquished the power-bill-transfer tort claim when they filed a second amended complaint to include a contract claim and then tried their power-bill-transfer claim on contract, and have not appealed the jury result that decided their power-bill-contract claim in favor of the City. 133

¹³⁰ CP at 110.

¹³¹ CP at 1420.

¹³² CP at 1492.

¹³³ CP at 2142. Teratron General v. Institutional Investors Trust, 18 Wn.App. 481, 489, 569 P.2d 1198, 1202 (1977) (a lawsuit cannot be tried on one theory and appealed on others); Capper v. Callahan, 39 Wn.2d 882, 887, 239 P.2d 541, 544 (1952) (case will not be reviewed on a theory different from that on which it was tried); RAP 2.4(a); Meresse v. Stelma, 100 Wn.App. 857, 867, 999 P.2d 1267 (2000) (appellate court will not rule on a matter not decided by the trial court).

Further, the Sisleys have not appealed the trial court's ruling that the City Light claims are governed by contract. 134

And the Sisleys are barred from bringing a tort claim on an issue governed by contract. Under the independent duty doctrine, an injury in tort only arises when the breach of the tort duty is independent from the terms of the contract. In Steinbock v. Ferry County PUD No. 1, the property owners sued when Ferry County discontinued electrical service to the Steinbocks' residential and commercial property after they did not pay their bills. The Court of Appeals Division III held there was not an independent duty outside the contractual relationships between the parties and therefore the tort action was properly dismissed by the trial court.

Here, the City's and customers' contractual obligations are established by City code. ¹³⁸ The code establishes that if the customer violates the contract including by non-payment, the customer is responsible for all losses and damages. ¹³⁹ In addition, the code states that owners of rental properties are responsible for the electricity use when the property is vacant or until the

¹³⁴ Amended Opening Brief at 2.

¹³⁵ Jackowski v. Borchelt, 174 Wn.2d 720, 730-731, 278 P.3d 1100 (2012).

¹³⁶ Steinbock v. Ferry County PUD No.1, 165 Wn. App. 479, 482, 269 P.3d 275 (2011).

¹³⁷ Id. at 489-490.

¹³⁸ SMC 21.49.100.

¹³⁹ SMC 21.49.100.F.

department is notified to open an account for a tenant. ¹⁴⁰ Like *Steinbock*, the Sisleys' City Light claim arises out of contract as established by code.

3. Seattle Public Utilities appropriately reinstalled a water meter in the occupied rental house and the claim is barred by the statute of limitations.

The Residential Landlord Tenant Act¹⁴¹ states it is unlawful for a landlord to terminate a tenant's utility services. ¹⁴² City code also prohibits a landlord from terminating water, ¹⁴³ and places a duty on a landlord to provide water. ¹⁴⁴ Where individuals occupy property without the landlord's consent, the Residential Landlord Tenant Act still applies because the individuals become tenants-by-sufferance. ¹⁴⁵ And under City code, water service and payment remains in the name of the property owner. ¹⁴⁶

As the facts demonstrate, the house was occupied when Mr. Sisley first requested the meter be removed. Even after Mr. Sisley was notified the property was occupied and was told the water could not be disconnected, he continued to demand that the City disconnect the water. Although the Sisleys claim the City reinstalled the meter without their consent and

¹⁴⁰ SMC 21.49.100.J.

¹⁴¹ RCW Chapter 59.18.

¹⁴² RCW 59.18.300.

¹⁴³ SMC 22.206.180.

¹⁴⁴ SMC 22.206.160.A; SMC 22.206.050.F.

¹⁴⁵ Sarvis v. Land Resources, Inc., 62 Wn.App. 888, 815 P.2d 840 (1991).

¹⁴⁶ SMC 21.04.260.A.

¹⁴⁷ CP 197-204, Declaration of Ariska Thompson.

improperly billed them for water, the Sisleys request to remove the meter was improper when the house was occupied. Further, the City's reinstallation of the meter followed statutory and code requirements that requires water be provided to occupied properties.

The Sisleys claim the City enabled squatters to reside in the house by refusing to remove the reinstalled water meter. Even if the property was unoccupied when the meter was reinstalled — the neighbor's observations, the City employee's observations, the continuous water use records, and the extensive repairs completed by the individuals living in the property demonstrate otherwise — it was the Sisleys' duty to secure the house against entry. It has sisleys had complied with the law and secured the property against "squatters", reinstalling a water meter would not have been an issue. Moreover, the Sisleys must pay for water even if the structure was occupied by "squatters" because once the individuals occupied the property they become tenants-by-sufferance, and the Sisleys are required by law to pay for water used at the property.

Furthermore the Sisleys' water-meter-installation claim is barred by the statute of limitations. The water meter was installed on November 27, 2007, ¹⁴⁹ and Mr. Sisley knew on December 15, 2007 the meter was

¹⁴⁸ SMC 22.206.160.A.2

¹⁴⁹ CP 163-178, Declaration of Marcus Jackson.

installed.¹⁵⁰ The Sisleys' claim was filed over three years later and is barred by the statute of limitations.¹⁵¹

4. Enforcing housing and zoning codes for tenant and public health and safety outweighs the Sisleys' rental-income interest.

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